1988

Kathleen Hamby and the utah State Department of Social Services v. Gail Jacobson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Issues Presented for Review

1. Whether the trial court had jurisdiction pursuant to its authority over the care, custody and control of children conferred by Title 30, Chapter 3 of the Utah Code (particularly U.C.A., 30-3-5 and 30-3-10) to determine the surnames of 1) the child born prior to Ms. Hamby's marriage to Mr. Jacobson, and 2) the child born subsequent to Ms. Hamby's divorce from Mr. Jacobson.

The trial court's ruling on this issue is confusing. The court entertained jurisdiction in March, 1985 to determine the surname of the child not yet born at the time of divorce but declined at that time to change the surname of the child born prior to the marriage. The judge told the parties that he would entertain name change "applications" from both of them if filed within 30 days of the birth of the child to be born following the divorce. The applications thus filed, however, did not comply with the statutory requirements of Utah's name change statute, U.S.C. 42-1-1--42-1-3. In the case of the newborn child who had not been a resident of the county for a year as required by such statute, the name change statute could not be applicable.

The Appellant Kathleen Hamby believes that the trial court had jurisdiction to determine the names of both her infant children in March, 1985 as well as after the birth of her child in April, 1985 pursuant to its continuing jurisdiction over the care, custody and control of children pursuant to a divorce action.

1. Whether the trial court erred in ordering that both of the children in Ms. Hamby's custody should bear the paternal surname rather than the name Ms. Hamby, as custodial parent, determined to be in the children's best interests--her own--in view of the evidence of record, the legal rights, privileges and responsibilities of the custodial parent, and the mandates of equal protection and due process guaranteed by the Constitution and laws of the State of Utah and the United States?

Ms. Hamby appealed the decision of the trial court because she believes the trial court erred egregiously.

Determinative Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, Rules and Regulations

Constitutional Provisions-Utah

Article I, section 1 [Inherent and inalienable rights]

All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties: to acquire, possess and protest property; to worship according to the dictates of their consciences; to assemble peaceably, protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances; to communicate freely their thoughts and opinions, being responsible for the abuse of that right.

Article I, section 2 [All political power inherent in the people]

All political power is inherent in the people; and all free governments are founded on their authority for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right to alter or reform their government as the public welfare may require.

Article I, section 7 [Due process of law]

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Article I, section 27 [Fundamental Rights]

Frequent recurrence to fundamental principles is essential to the security of individual rights and the perpetuity of free government.

Constitutional Provision-United States

Amendment XIV, section 1 [Citizenship defined; privileges of citizens]

...No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Statutes

U.C.A. 30-3-5. Disposition of property-Maintenance and health care of parties and children-Court to have continuing jurisdiction--Custody and visitation-Termination of alimony.

1) When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it such orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the maintenance and health care of the parties, as may be equitable. The court shall include in every decree of divorce an order assigning responsibility for the payment of reasonable and necessary medical and dental expenses of the dependent children. If coverage is available at a reasonable cost, the court may also include an order requiring the purchase and maintenance of appropriate health, hospital, and dental care insurance for those children. The court shall have continuing jurisdiction to make such subsequent changes or new orders with respect to the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children and their support, maintenance, and health and dental care, or the distribution of the property as shall be reasonable and necessary. Visitation rights of parents, grandparents, and other relatives shall take into consideration the welfare of the child.

U.C.A. 30-3-10. Custody of children.

In any case of separation of husband and wife having minor children, or whenever a marriage is declared void or dissolved the court shall make such order for the future care and custody of the minor children as it may deem just and proper. In determining custody, the court shall consider the best interests of the child and the past conduct and demonstrated moral standards of each of the parties. The court may inquire of the children and take into consideration the children's desires regarding the future custody; however, such expressed desires shall not be controlling and the court may, nevertheless, determine the children's custody otherwise...

U.C.A. 42-1-1 to 3. Chapter 1. Change of Name.

U.C.A. 42-1-. By petition to district court-Contents.

Any natural person, desiring to change his name, may file a petition therefor in the district court of the county where he resides, setting forth:

- 1) The cause for which the change of name is sought.
- 2) The name proposed.
- 3) That he has been a bona fide resident of the county for the year immediately prior to the filing of the petition.

42-1-2. Notice of hearing-Order of change.

The court shall order what, if any, notice shall be given of the hearing, and after the giving of such notice, if any, may order the change of name as requested, upon proof in open court of the allegations of the petition and that there exists proper cause for granting the same.

42-1-3. Effect of proceedings.

Such proceedings shall in no manner affect any legal action or proceeding then pending, or any right, title or interest whatsoever.

Rules and Regulations

Guidelines for Reporting Name of Father and Surname of Child on the Birth Certificate (revised October 5, 1981) by the Bureau of Health Statistics, Utah Department of Health.

Surname of Child.

The surname to be given the child should be determined by the parents.

A. When the mother is married it is usual for the child to receive the surname of the husband(father). However, some recent immigrants into the United States and some subcultures within the nation have customs of assigning surnames which vary from the standard American tradition. The surname given the child should be determined by both parents. It clearly is not mandatory that the child have the father's surname. When the parents disagree as to the child's surname, the sole consideration should be the best interests of the child. This may be best determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Therefore, if the parents (husband and wife) are in disagreement regarding the surname of the child, it should be left blank on the birth certificate. It can be added later when the parents reach agreement by an affidavit to amend a record or if necessary, by court order.

B. When the child's mother is not married, she has considerable latitude in the name she gives the child. Even if the father is not named on the birth certificate, the mother may give the child a surname different than her own surname. Additionally, the mother may name the father on the birth certificate (by Acknowledgment of Paternity) and give the child a surname different than the father's.

C. The parents should be advised that by giving the child a different surname than that of the father, the birth certificate may appear to some persons as a birth which occurred out of wedlock.

Statement of the Case

Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Trial Court

This case involves the right of a divorced woman, awarded and entrusted with the sole custody of her two infant children of her dissolved marriage, to determine the names of her children consistent with their best interests, and the right of the children to bear names which are in their best interests.

It also involves the threshold jurisdictional question of whether a divorce court has jurisdiction to determine the names of children pursuant to its continuing jurisdiction over the care and custody of children.

The case concerns the naming of two children, one born in 1983 prior to Appellant Kathleen Hamby's brief marriage to Gail Jacobson, who was given her name, and one born in 1985, two days following her divorce from Mr. Jacobson on the grounds of mental cruelty. The stipulation between the parties respecting the various matters of child custody, property distribution, etc., included a provision:

The minor child of the parties, Kelly, does not currently bear defendant's last name, Jacobson. Plaintiff desires that status to continue for Kelly and also to apply to the expected minor child. Defendant desires that both children bear his name, Jacobson. This is the only issue remaining over which the parties are in dispute and over which a hearing in Open Court is desired." R. 31 (No. 10).

A hearing was held on March 14, 1985 respecting this issue at which time former counsel for Ms. Hamby objected to the Court taking jurisdiction to change the name of the child born in 1983. The Fourth Judicial District Court, Judge J. Robert Bullock presiding, assumed jurisdiction to determine the name of the child to be born and ordered that such child bear the name of the father because a marital child¹ "under the common law, would normally

be known" by the father's surname.

The Court further ordered that the child born prior to the marriage continue to bear the mother's surname unless and until the parties brought the issue of naming to him following the birth of the second child. The Court reserved jurisdiction to hear the names issue but otherwise issued a final divorce decree on April 11, 1985. In doing so he said he would entertain "applications" for name changes from both parties following the birth of the 1985 child.

Within 30 days of the birth of the child Ms. Hamby petitioned for a change of his name pursuant to this order, and her ex-husband countered with a (late) application for a name change of the two year old. The Fourth Judicial District Court, Judge Ray M. Harding now presiding, ruled that both children should bear the father's surname.

The case is before the Utah Supreme Court on appeal by Ms. Hamby of that decision.

1

The terms "marital" and "nonmarital" are used herein instead of "legitimate" or "illegitimate" which denote good or base societal status as determined by males. See Footnote No. 1, p.91 of MacDougall, "The Right of Women To Name Their Children," 3 J. L. and Ineq. 91(1985) reproduced in the Addendum.

Statement of the Facts

Approximately eleven years ago the Appellant Kathleen Hamby gave birth to her first child. She gave the child, a boy, the surname which she shared with her husband, the child's father, Hamby.

She was later divorced from the father of her first child. The dates of her marriage to and divorce from her first husband do not appear in the Record of this case. Ms. Hamby has sole custody of her firstborn.

On June 14, 1983 Ms. Hamby gave birth to a child fathered by the Respondent Gail Jacobson. She gave the child the same surname as herself and her first child, Hamby. R. 127.

On November 29 of that year, 1983, Ms. Hamby married Mr. Jacobson. The following October she separated from him and filed for divorce by a complaint and amended complaint dated October 29, 1984 against him on the grounds of mental cruelty. R. 7,10.

By a Motion for Joinder of Party Plaintiff dated January 14, 1985 (R. 13) the State of Utah, Department of Social Services, asked to become a party to the divorce action because Ms. Hamby had been receiving public assistance. The motion was granted on February 7, 1985. R. 25. By date of February 13, 1985 the State of Utah filed a complaint in the case against Mr. Jacobson alleging that the defendant has failed to support his children as required by U.C.A. 78-45-3² and asking that the defendant be required to pay back and on-going child support. R. 27.

The Record in this case also includes a Writ of Garnishment from the State of Utah to the Sunshine Mining Company dated July 29, 1985 and a Garnishee Writ of Execution from the State of Utah to

² See Roberts v. Roberts, 592 P. 2d 597 (Utah 1979) and Mecham v. Mecham, 570 P. 2d 123 (Utah 1977) respecting the right of the Department to seek reimbursement of funds paid for child support.

the Sheriff or Constable of Utah County respecting the Sunshine Mining Company dated August 8, 1985. R. 54, 58.

During the ten-eleven months that Ms. Hamby lived with Mr. Jacobson in marriage she used the surname Jacobson. Upon separating from her ex-husband she reverted to her pre-marriage name which she intends to use the rest of her natural life.³

A divorce was granted to Ms. Hamby on the grounds of mental cruelty on April 11, 1985. R. 114. The decree provided for her to formally resume her pre-marriage name. R. 116.

3

In her Affidavit in Support of Motion for Change of Title of Action to the Supreme Court of Utah, Ms. Hamby stated that she used the surname Jacobson for less than a year. Since October 20, 1984 when she separated from Mr. Jacobson, she has used the surname Hamby which she intends to do for the remainder of her natural life. These facts are otherwise not part of the Record in the case. The parties stipulated to the change of title on the basis of Ms. Hamby's affidavit.

In ordering that the child born following Ms. Hamby's divorce should bear the paternal name, the trial court stated as a reason for his ruling that "Hamby is not the mother's maiden name." R. 102.

This distinction is misguided as discussed, infra. Ms. Hamby considers Hamby her name just as Mr. Jacobson presumably considers Jacobson his name irrespective of where he acquired it, by birth or change of name while a minor or as an adult. Ms. Hamby assumed the surname Hamby during a prior marriage, has used it for years, and, as she stated in her affidavit to the Supreme Court, "I consider it my name and I never intend to use any other surname than Hamby for the remainder of my natural life."

As written in the Center for a Woman's Own Name, 1975 Supplement to Booklet For Women Who Wish To Determine Their Own Names After Marriage 6 (1975):

"It is the position of the Center For A Woman's Own Name that the name(s) a woman chooses to use is her own name. It may be the name given her at birth, a name assumed during childhood, assumed at marriage, assumed at a previous marriage, a hyphenated name or a name made up by herself at any time."

The term "maiden" name or "married" name is not used herein except in reference to the trial court's usage of the term. It refers to the name a woman uses just prior to her first marriage when she presumably is a "maiden." Identifying a woman by her sexual and marital status is inappropriate. The terms "own" name, or simply "name" are used instead, or the antiquated terms are used within quotes.

Two days after her divorce was granted Ms. Hamby gave birth to her third son, a child fathered by Mr. Jacobson.

The divorce decree issued by Judge R. Robert Bullock ordered, with respect to the children's names:

11. The surname of the minor child, Kelly, shall remain Hamby at this time. If Defendant desires that name to be changed to Jacobson then he may file a Petition for change of name in this matter within 30 days after the birth of the minor child expected in April, 1985. Plaintiff may respond and/or object to any such Petition thus filed.

12. The minor child expected in April 1985 shall bear the surname Jacobson. If plaintiff desires that name to be changed to Hamby then she may file a Petition for change of name in within 30 days after the birth of said child. Defendant may respond and/or object to any such petition thus filed.

An evidentiary hearing on the children's names was held before the judge on March 14, 1985. Mr. Jacobson did not contest the divorce or the award of sole custody of the two children to Ms. Hamby. He did not appear at the hearing.

Prior to the hearing the parties had stipulated that the only issue remaining between the parties was that of the children's names and had asked the Court to hear the issue.

Mr. Jacobson did not attend the evidentiary hearing of March 14, 1985, according to his lawyer because a job came through. At the hearing it came out that since Ms. Hamby had separated from Mr. Jacobson in October, 1984, he had had no association with the child born in 1983. R. 140.

Ms. Hamby testified that Mr. Jacobson was verbally and physically abusive "to all of the children in our home," that he is a drunk ("He's drunk more often than he's sober") and that he "wouldn't work." R. 127, She testified that Mr. Jacobson had hit the baby born before the marriage, causing the child to lose the upward motion in his left eye. R. 128. She mentioned that he had a reputation in the community in which she lives for being a drinker

and fighter in town. T. 133-134.

Ms. Hamby testified that, as custodial parent of her children, she felt she should make the decisions respecting their names while the children are young. At the time of the hearing, her first child was 10 years old and bore the name Hamby; her second child, who was almost two years old, bore the name Hamby; she wished her third child, who was not yet born, to also bear the family name. She testified that she wanted the children to bear her name for their benefit:

"Yes. I have a lot of reasons. The main one is for, are for the benefit of the children. If the children don't have the same last name in the family I feel that it makes more insecurity, less family closeness. Mr. Jacobson has put me in a position now to raise three children by myself, because it's his choice not to be a husband that I can stay with. And when I have to raise three children I need the best circumstances to raise those kids under that's possible; and I feel that having my whole family have the same last name brings the family closer together, there will be a lot less questions brought up at an earlier date for those little babies. They won't be wondering why their name is different until they are old enough to discuss it. R. 131-132.

Ms. Hamby further testified that as the children get older "if they make the decision that they want their father's name, if he has been coming around and seeing them and being a father to them. I would never object to my children having their own way when they are old enough to make a decision like that." R. 141-142.

Ms. Hamby's conclusion that the family unit which she heads should bear the same surname came as a result of a great deal of thought and her own life experience. She spoke with several people about it and reflected on her personal experience of having grown up in a household with different names following divorce.

"I was, also, raised in a broken home with a different last name and saw the affects[sic] of it. Even when you are happy in a broken home, when you come home with a child as a friend and you introduce your mother with a different name, your friend asks you: why does your mother have a different name, is she really your mother, or things like that. And, so that kids begin to wonder who their mother and father is.

And I feel that it's just the security on the children. It's not an issue here I'm not here to argue about to hurt Gail Jacobson or anything also. His name does carry around stigma." R. 133.

As Ms. Hamby summarized her position with respect to her right, as a matter of her childrearing responsibilities, to determine her children's names while they are young:

Q: But you want to make that decision for them now?

A. Yes, I do. I have custody of them, and I'm their mother. R. 141.

Following Ms. Hamby's testimony, a school psychologist, Gaylor Lester Downing, testified that in his opinion family identity is somewhat disrupted if the family unit living together following a divorce has two different surnames:

"For example, I've worked with one boy whose parents are divorced, and he will go through periods when he's more happy with his dad so he'll take on his dad's name, and there will be some problems there, and so he'll go more in with his mom and he'll take his mom's name. And it will create uncertainty in his own mind as to who he is and where he is and what he ought to be doing. Because attached to that name is also the values that go along with the parent who also has that name." R. 146.

Mr. Downing, in answer to a question posed by Mr. Jacobson's counsel, responded:

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