1988

Kathleen Hamby and the Utah State Department of Social Services v. Gail Jacobsen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

What's in a name? That which we call a rose
By any other name would smell as sweet.
William Shakespeare, Romeo and Juliet, II, i, 13.

Good name in man and woman, dear my lord,
Is the immediate jewel of their souls:
Who steals my purse steals trash; 'tis something, nothing,
But he that filches from me my good name
Robs me of that which not enriches him,
And makes me poor indeed.
William Shakespeare, Othello, III, iii, 155.

I hate the man who builds his name
On ruins of another's fame.
John Gay, Fablels pt. I, "the poet and the rose," (1727)

I. The District Court Applied the Proper Legal Standard to Resolve the Conflict Between the Divorcing Parties Concerning the Surname Their Children Should Have.

A. A dispute between divorcing parents regarding the surname their children will have after the divorce should be resolved by the "best interests of the child" standard.

This district court applied the "best interests of the child" standard to determine the surname by which the children of these divorcing parents should be known after the divorce. (R. 102, 103.) In so doing, the district court properly applied a standard which completely conforms with the statutory, administrative and judicial precedent which unequivocally indicate that all disputes regarding the welfare of children should be resolved by the "best interests of the child" standard.

The Guidelines for Reporting Name of Father and Surname of Child on Birth Certificate (rev. Oct. 5, 1981) issued by the Bureau of Health Statistics, Utah Department of Health, specify: "When parents disagree as to the child's surname, the sole

consideration should be the best interests of the child. This may be best determined by a court of competent jurisdiction."

Numerous statutes specify that Utah courts are to follow the "best interests of the child" standard in resolving conflicts regarding the welfare of minor children. See, e.g., U.C.A. § 30-3-5 (in awarding visitation the court "shall take into consideration the welfare of the child"); U.C.A. § 30-3-10 (in determining custody and making related orders at the time of divorce "the court shall consider the best interests of the child"); U.C.A. § 78-3a-48 (juvenile court may approve voluntary termination of parental rights if "in the best interests of the parent and the child"); U.C.A. § 78-3a-39 (juvenile court may enter all reasonable orders concerning a child in its jurisdiction "which are for the best interests of the child"); U.C.A. § 78-30-9 (adoption order will be granted only if the court is "satisfied that the interests of the child will be promoted by the adoption"); U.C.A. § 78-45c-3 (1)(b) & (d) ("best interests of the child" is one factor in determining whether court may exercise child custody jurisdiction); U.C.A. § 78-45c-7 (3) (court should not exercise custody jurisdiction "if it is in the interest of the child that another state assume jurisdiction").

Likewise, numerous cases decided by the Utah Supreme Court unequivocally established "best interests of the child" as the legal standard for dissolving disputes regarding the custody and care of minor children. See, e.g., Hutchison v. Hutchison 649 P.2d 38, 40 (Utah 1982) "In a controversy over custody, the paramount consideration is the best interests of the

child . . ."); Hogge v. Hogge, 649 P.2d 51 (Utah 1982) (best interests of the child is the standard for determining modification of custody if a substantial and material change of circumstances is shown); Becker v. Becker, 694 P.2d 608 (Utah 1984) (best interests of the child standard is applicable to determine modification of custody after substantial change of circumstances); Lembach v. Cox, 693 P.2d 197 (Utah 1981) (to determine custody of child born out of wedlock best interests of the child standard is applied); see further Anderson v. Anderson, 172 P.2d 132 (Utah 1946); Pennington v. Pennington, 711 P.2d 254 (Utah 1985); Taylor v. Waddoups, 241 P.2d 157 (Utah 1952).

The question of what legal standard should be applied to resolve a dispute between divorced or divorcing parents regarding the surname of their children has been addressed to many other states, and in virtually all of the those states the courts have adopted the "best interests of the child" standard. "In determining whether a change in a child's name should be permitted or ordered against the objection, or without the consent, of one of the parents, the courts have usually recognized that the welfare of the child should be the controlling consideration, and that the determination of the issue is ordinarily a matter for the trial court's discretion. Annot., 92 A.L.R. 3d 1091, 1095 (1979 & Supp. 1985). See also Note The Controversy Over Children's Surnames: Familial Autonomy, Equal Protection and the Child's Best Interests, 1979 Utah L. Rev. 303, 323 (hereinafter cited as "Note"). See generally Laks v. Laks, 25 Ariz. App. 58, 540 P.2d 1277, 1280

(1975) ("The persons who have the paramount interest are the children and their best interests are controlling."); In re Marriage of Schiffman, 28 Cal. 3d 640, 169 Cal Rptr. 918, 620 P.2d 579, 583 (1980) ("Henceforth, as in parental custody disputes, the sole consideration when parents contest a surname should be the child's best interests."); Jacobs v. Jacobs, 309 N.W.2d 303, 305 (Minn. 1981) ("the best interest must govern the resolution of the parents' quarrel"); In re Saxton, 309 N.W.2d 298, 300 (Minn. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 1034 (1982) ("the best interests of the child controlled the resolution of the issue"); Overton v. Overton, 674 P.2d 1089, 91 (Mont. 1983) ("the change of name and whether it was in the best interest of the child"); Firman v. Firman, 610 P.2d 178, 181 (Mont. 1980) ("Since there is no other statute in point, the Court must fall back on general principles, the most important of which in any proceeding concerning the relationship of a father and his child is the best interests of the child."); Cohee v. Cohee, 317 N.W.2d 381, 384 (Neb. 1982) ("the standard to be used in the accomplishment of this task is the best interests of the child, the same standard used in all cases involving custody and visitation of minor children"); Cohen v. Cunningham, 480 N.Y.S.2d 656, 657 (App. Div. 1984) ("neither parent has a superior right to determine the surname of the child, and the question always is whether the best interests of the child will be served by the change."); Hurta v. Hurta, 605 P.2d 1278, 1279 (Wash. App. 1979) ("there is nothing in the record to show that the proposal was considered from the standpoint of the child, and it is the

child's best interests which control."). The only time a court has applied any other standard is when a state statute expressly addresses the issue and directs the standard to be applied. See, e.g., In re Meyer, 471 N.E.2d 718 (Ind. Ct. App. 1984) (Indiana legislation provides presumption that parent who makes child support and fulfills other decreed duties has priority). Spatz, 258 N.W.2d 814 (Neb. 1977).

Likewise, the more astute commentaries suggest that disputes regarding the name of a child "should ideally be analyzed in terms of what genuinely is in the child's best interests." Note, 1979 Utah L. Rev. at 328. In re Tubbs, 620 P.2d 384 (Okla. 1984).

B. The District Court Properly Rejected Appellant's Argument That the Custodian of a Minor Child Has the Right to Determine the Child's Name.

It has been the consistent position of Appellant Kathleen Hamby (R. 141, TR. 21, 2d Tr 4) and of her counsel (R. 82-84, Brief of Appellant 16) that because she is the custodial parent, she has the right to select the names of the children of whom she has custody, or at least the presumption of the law favors the names selected by the custodian. That right or presumptive right, cannot be said to have arisen by inference of the order awarding custody in this case, because the parties were disputing the surname of the children at the time the court awarded custody, and the court simultaneously "preserve[d] the issues with respect to both [children's surnames] until" a later date. (R. 152, Tr. 32.) The Appellant has not cited a single Utah statute or case that supports the claim that a custodial parent has the right or presumptive right unilaterally to select the

name by which a child will be known after divorce over the objection of the other parent. And despite enormous straining, she has been unable to cite any court anywhere which has adopted that position. The leading authority cited for her proposition is a concurring opinion of one justice stating what he thought the rule should be in a case in which the California Supreme Court expressly adopted another rule--the best interests of the child standard. In re Schiffman, 620 P.2d at 583, 585 (majority rule and Justice Mosk's concurring opinion). The overwhelming weight of authority rejects the custodial parent rule. "Giving the choice [of surname for children] to the custodial parent has generally been rejected by the courts." Note, 1979 Utah L. Rev. at 328 n. 113. Counsel for Appellant has acknowledged that "Appellate courts have not expressly adopted the custodial parent presumption, and one court to which it has been argued has expressly rejected it." MacDougall, The Right of Women to Name Their Children, 3 J.L. & Ineq. 91, 150 (1985) (hereinafter cited as "MacDougall"). The Nebraska Supreme Court recently declare: "We refuse to suggest or hold that a presumption exists in favor of the custodial." Cohee, 317 N.W.2d at 384. (But the court did indicate that the name desired by the custodial parent was one factor that should be considered. Id.) See also Young v. Young, 356 N.W.2d 823 (Ct. App. Minn. 1984); In re Schidlmeier, 496 A.2d 1249 (Pa. Super. 1985) (where the court "shied away from expressly articulating the presumption" even though Pennsylvania has an express regulation on the point. MacDougall, 3 J.L. & Ineq. at 151 n. 242.) Apparently legislatures in two states have adopted laws providing that the custodial parent has the right to

select the surname following birth. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 126-6-A(I)(A) (1984). (Appellant's brief states that the Wisconsin legislature has adopted a similar provision, but the most recent edition of the Wisconsin Statutes Annotated and Pocket Supplement, do not confirm that fact. Nevertheless, Appellant's council resides in Wisconsin and Respondent is willing to accept her assertion.) An executive department regulation in Pennsylvania likewise adopts the custodial parent presumption. 28 Pa. Admin. Code § 1.7(b) (1975). Many other legislatures have considered the question of naming children without adopting that position. See MacDougall, 3 J.L. & Ineq. at 154-155. In fact, legislatures in at least three states have adopted the diametrically opposite presumption that the support-paying (noncustodial) parent has the presumptive right to select or veto the name of a child after divorce. Ga. Code Ann. § 19-12-1 (1982); Ind. Code Ann. § 34-4-6-4(d) (Burns Supp. 1985); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13:4751(B) (West Supp. 1985). See also In re Meyer, 471 N.E.2d 718 (Ind. Ct. App. 1984).

As the preceding discussion of legislation suggests, adoption of a rule that the custodial parent or the noncustodial parent has a right or presumptive right to select the surname of children after divorce is a legislative, not a judicial, policy-decision responsibility. Indeed, counsel for the Appellant recognizes that there is a "need for legislation." MacDougall, 3 J.L. & Ineq. at 154. This court should resist the plaintiff's invitation to legislate on the subject.

It would be very poor policy for this court to adopt the custodial parent rule or presumption urged by the Appellant. The rule would be contrary to the policy of this court against "fixed rigidities" in matters regarding the welfare of children. Bingham v. Bingham, 575 P.2d 703, 704 (Utah 1978). Moreover, the custodial parent rule or presumption would create a significant obstacle to parents voluntarily reaching agreements regarding custody of their children. Surely many parents who are willing to stipulate that their ex-spouses should have primary custody of their children would be reluctant to do so if the Utah Supreme Court ruled that the custodial parent had the right, or presumptive right, to select the name by which the children would be known following the divorce. The whole notion of giving one parent the authority unilaterally to determine this matter is unwise and arbitrary. Indeed, if the court were to adopt an arbitrary, unilateral rule, the better rule would be that adopted by the majority of states which have adopted legislation on this subject, i.e., that the noncustodial parent who is fulfilling his responsibilities of support and association with the child ought to have the primary role in determining the name by which the children are known. At least that arbitrary rule provides an incentive for noncustodial parents to support and maintain contact with their children. It is indisputable that it is in the best interest of the children of divorce to have a continuing relationship with their noncustodial parent. And while no court can force a noncustodial parent to assume the responsibility which he or she should exercise toward the children, the court

should be extremely reluctant to block the reasonable efforts by a noncustodial parent to maintain some tie (even a nominal tie) with his or her children.

II. The District Court Considered the Appropriate Factors in Determining What Surname Would Be in the Best Interests of the Children of These Parties.

A. The Factors Considered by the District Court Have Been Identified by This Court and Courts in Other States as the Appropriate Factors in Determining the Best Interests of Children.

The dispute in this case arose at the time of divorce. The divorcing woman wanted to resume using the surname of a former husband, to whom she had been married some time before her marriage to Mr. Jacobson and by whom she had one child who also bore the surname "Hamby." Mr. Jacobson did not object to his wife resuming the use of the surname "Hamby." However, she also wanted the two minor children which she and Mr. Jacobson had parented to bear the surname "Hamby." Mr. Jacobson objected to that, wanting them both to bear his surname, "Jacobson," after the divorce.

In resolving this dispute between two parents regarding the names by which their infant children would be known after the divorce, the district court explicitly noted and considered nine factors: (1) the relationship between the father (noncustodial parent) and the children; (2) the relationship between the mother (custodial parent) and the children; (3) the degree of embarrassment or inconvenience the children would experience having a surname different from that used by their mother; (4) the very young age of the children and the length of time by

which they had been known by their surnames; (5) the fact that the surname selected by the mother for them was not a family (genealogical-biological family); (6) any embarrassment that would be associated with the use of the surname because of the bad reputation of it; (7) the stability of the identification which the respective surnames represented; (8) the implication of illegitimacy which might arise from the use by biological siblings of different surnames; and (9) the fact that the children when older may petition for a name change on their own.

The district court obviously had given careful consideration to memoranda filed by the attorneys before making this decision. The factors relied upon the district court are very similar to the factors which the Utah Supreme Court identified in Hutchison v. Hutchison as relevant to the determination of the best interests of the child in custody disputes. There the court declared:

Some factors the court may consider in determining the child's best interests relate primarily to the child's feelings or special needs: the preference of the child; keeping siblings together; the relative strength of the child's bond with one or both of the prospective custodians; and, in appropriate cases, the general interest in continuing previously determined custody arrangements where the child is happy and well adjusted. Other factors relate primarily to the prospective custodians' character or status or to their capacity or willingness to function as parents: moral character and emotional stability; duration and depth of desire for custody; ability to provide personal rather than surrogate care; significant impairment of ability to function as a parent through drug abuse, excessive drinking, or other cause; reasons for having relinquished custody in the past; religious compatibility with the child; kinship, including, in extraordinary circumstances, stepparent status; and financial condition. (These factors are not necessarily listed in order of importance.)

649 P.2d at 41.

The factors relied upon by the district court are also similar to those endorsed by other courts which have stated that disputes between divorcing parents concerning the surnames of their children are to be governed by the best interests of the child standard. For instance, the California Supreme Court declared:

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